

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE

Board of County Commissioners

North Dade Regional Library 2455 NW 183 Street Miami, Florida 33056

> May 8, 2012 As Advertised

Harvey Ruvin, Clerk Board of County Commissioners

Christopher Agrippa, Division Chief Clerk of the Board Division

Alicia Stephenson, Commission Reporter (305) 375-1475



CLERK'S SUMMARY AND OFFICIAL MINUTES CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE PUBLIC HEARING MAY 8, 2012

The Charter Review Task Force (CRTF) convened on May 8, 2012, at 5:30 p.m. in North Dade Regional Library Auditorium, 2455 NW 183 Street, Miami, Florida. The following members were present: Chairman Rene Garcia, Mr. Terry Murphy, and Mr. Don Slesnick (Vice Chairwoman Evelyn Langlieb Greer, and Task Force members Ms. Yolanda Aguilar, Mr. Carlos Manrique, Mr. Lawrence Percival, Ms. Pamela Perry, Dr. Walter T. Richardson, Representative Carlos Trujillo were absent. Members John Patrick Julien, Hans Ottinot, and H.T. Smith arrived later).

Welcome and Introduction

Chairman Rene Garcia called the public hearing to order at 5:39 PM.

At the request of Chairman Garcia, Task Force members formally introduced themselves.

Mr. Murphy introduced himself as Commissioner Barbara Jordan's appointee.

Chairman Garcia introduced himself Commissioner Esteban Bovo's appointee.

Mr. Slesnick introduced himself, noting he was appointed by Chairman Joe Martinez.

Public Hearing

Chairman Garcia noted that the presentations by public speakers and all other comments would be recorded as a part of the official record, and the minutes and recordings would be available to those members not present today.

Chairman Garcia opened the public hearing and the following persons appeared:

1. Ms. Esperanza Reynolds, 8465 Menteith Terrace, Miami Lakes, appeared before the Task Force and noted she was not aware that time limits were not imposed on presentations before the Charter Review Task Force (CRTF) when she spoke at the public hearing last night (5/7). She noted she thought the speakers only had two minutes to speak and therefore, rehearsed and presented a speech that was limited to two minutes. Ms. Reynolds noted that she now understood she had ample time to speak.

Ms. Reynolds paraphrased the following preamble to the Miami-Dade County Home Rule Charter:

"We, the people of this County, in order to secure for ourselves the benefits and responsibilities of home rule, to create a metropolitan government to serve our

present and future needs, and to endow our municipalities with the rights of self determination in their local affairs, do under God adopt this home rule Charter."

Ms. Reynolds noted the Charter also states that the government was created to protect the governed, not itself. She questioned why commissioners insisted on governing without term limits, since institutionalizing positions was questionable.

Ms. Reynolds asked why the Assistant County Attorney present at last night's (5/7) public hearing expressed himself in a manner that the average person could not understand. She said Assistant County Attorney Rosenthal was asked clearly last night whether language could be crafted that captures the expressed intent of the people accurately and concisely and placed on the ballot for approval by the voters. She said a recommendation was that the people, through the Charter Review Task Force, be ensured that going forth, the ballot reflected what they wanted. She suggested that Task Force members recommend that the ideas and expressed intent of the people be placed on the ballot in 2012, without any changes or interference by members of the County Commission.

Ms. Reynolds inquired why the wording of proposed charter amendments was confusing and written in a manner that forced the public to vote for something it did not want. She expressed concern that at County Commission meetings, commissioners always questioned the County Attorney and Assistant County Attorneys regarding how to defend themselves, when tax dollars were being used to pay the County Attorney's Office to protect the governed. Ms. Reynolds asked why this Task Force was composed of mostly legislators and/or attorneys, and did not include any representation from the common residents. She suggested that the Charter be amended to require that a group be created consisting of a random sampling of the population, to review performance and to assess the needs of the people on a quarterly basis when officials were required to present progress reports.

Ms. Reynolds indicated that members of the County Attorney's Office wrote ballot questions in such a way that commissioners got what they wanted. Ms. Reynolds indicated it was also agreed last night that a process should be created in which proposed Charter language would be sent to a select group of residents to test how it was perceived.

Ms. Reynolds questioned whether the governed was protected when 70% of the County's operating budget was spent on salaries and benefits. She noted that during a town hall meeting with Mayor Carlos Gimenez, it was suggested that students graduating from colleges and universities be hired as summer interns to infuse fresh ideas on governmental operations. She noted this would eliminate one quarter of the County's salary and benefits structure and educate the next generation about the functions of government, and prepare them to inspire meaningful change in the business community.

She asked if the governed is really protected when the government, in desperate need to collect revenue, identifies creative ways to fine, tax, and penalize the governed.

Ms. Reynolds asked why business owners received recurring penalties for violations 20 consecutive days, when they were helpless to comply with the County's requirements. Ms. Reynolds expressed appreciation that a recommendation made at last night's public hearing to reschedule the CRTF public hearing scheduled for Friday May 11, 2012 to Monday, May 14, 2012, was taken to heart. She questioned why Town Hall meetings were scheduled near the Town of Miami Lakes on the same night as Council meetings. She said voters would have an opportunity to vote for or against all elected officials in November 2012, which may be the best reform. She said she believed a silent majority of the United States' population felt so disenfranchised that they were no longer participating in the electoral process.

2. Mr. Richard Mason, 3650 NW 181 Street, appeared before the Task Force and expressed concern that County employees failed to exhibit the honesty and the courtesy that were called for in the Citizens' Bill of Rights. He suggested that each employee be required to read and sign a copy of the Citizens' Bill of Rights when he/she was hired, and that the signed copy be placed in his/her personnel file.

Mr. Mason noted the Commission on Ethics and Public Trust was mentioned in the Citizens' Bill of Rights in the Charter. He expressed concern that when a resident appeared before this Ethics Commission to complain about how they were treated, that resident was told that he/she would have to go to court in order to address the issue. Mr. Mason noted the Independent Review Panel that existed several years ago was very helpful, and should be reinstated and incorporated in the Charter. He added that residents should be able to file complaints and identify problems for follow-up by the County Administration or the appropriate entity.

Mr. Mason noted that he participated in public hearings between 1999 and 2001 regarding a master plan for Haulover Beach Park. He said a \$4.5 million Safe Neighborhood Parks bond was sold to make improvements in the park, but he did not see any indication of how the money was used, and none of the projects in the master plan were completed. Mr. Mason said the designated clothing-optional naturist family beach at Haulover was classified as a tourist destination, and generated \$800 million in revenue for the County, and created over 10,000 local jobs; yet the Greater Miami Convention and Visitors Bureau had not spent any money promoting it. Mr. Mason expressed concern that the beach's parking lot brought in \$1.5 to \$1.7 million per year in parking revenue, yet his group was unsuccessful in its attempts to obtain an assessment regarding whether the lot could be expanded. He expressed concern that the beach's parking lot revenue went into the County's General Fund and as a result, no funds were available to provide amenities and improvements needed to continue supporting the large population at

Haulover Beach Park. He suggested Task Force members recommend that a provision be incorporated in the Charter to address this issue.

Mr. Mason noted that the parking lot's revenues could be used to provide a needed police presence and adequate parking at Haulover Beach. He expressed concern that that an agreement was signed in June 2010, to allow a boat storage house to be placed in one of the park's parking lots, but no public hearing was held. He further expressed concern that the lot would be too small to support the number of visitors at Haulover, the storage house would block the scenic view, and the destruction of a mangrove area was contemplated. Mr. Mason said no resolution bypassing Article 7 should be presented to the County Commission.

In response to Chairman Garcia's request for clarification regarding whether Mr. Mason was recommending that the Charter include a provision for park revenues to remain in park budgets, Mr. Mason noted he was recommending that parking revenue or a portion thereof, remain in the respective park budget.

In response to Mr. Mason's comments regarding bypassing Article 7, Mr. Murphy noted he had heard similar commentary in relation to a marina at Matheson Hammock Park. He agreed that language in Article 7 should be reviewed. He said it was his understanding that a boat storage house operation was a commercial activity; and that pursuant to Article 7, a commercial activity performed on County-owned land was subject to a referendum.

In response to Mr. Mason's comment regarding the Ethics Commission's response to complaints, Mr. Murphy noted the Ethics Commission would not find probable cause to proceed on a complaint involving a violation of the Citizens' Bill of Rights because the remedy provided in the Charter was to remove someone from office. He noted a suggestion was made at the previous public hearing (5/7) to include a provision in the Charter to allow the Ethics Commission to reprimand, fine, and take other punitive measures to remedy situations without requiring the complainant to go to the Third District Court to sue or remove an elected official from office.

At the request of Chairman Garcia, Task Force members who arrived after the beginning of tonight's public hearing stated their names and who appointed them to the Task Force.

State Representative John Patrick Julien, District 104, noted he was Commissioner Jean Monestime's appointee.

Mr. Hans Ottinot noted he was the City Attorney of the City of Sunny Isles Beach and

was appointed by Shirley Gibson, Mayor, City of Miami Gardens.

Mr. H.T. Smith noted he was the County Commission's Vice Chairwoman Audrey Edmonson's appointee.

- Mr. Mason noted although suing and removing elected officials from office may be viewed as severe measures, it may also be necessary to fire staff. He also noted he believed a portion of resort taxes should be dedicated to provide police patrol and lifeguards on the County's beaches.
- 3. Ms. Shirley Smith Mason, 3650 NW 181 Street, noted she represented the Beach Education Advocates for Culture, Health, Environment, and Safety (BEACHES). She expressed concern that the Parks Department told vendors for concession services how to bid for contracts; and that punitive measures were taken against those who spoke out against what they witnessed. She indicated that firing members of County staff as punishment might be the right thing to do. She expressed concern that the members of Parks Department manipulated the bidding process to get results that Department Directors and commissioners wanted, under the disguise of correct protocol, which was not in the best interest of the public. She noted that to win the public confidence, the County Commission should reevaluate its operations by improving collaborations with vendors/contractors biding on contracts as well as County staff.

She noted that when members of BEACHES pointed out flaws in the procurement process on behalf of a concessionaire, an Assistant County Attorney told them that he/she did not care whether the concessionaire made money, as long as the individual got his/her share.

In response to Mr. Murphy's inquiry regarding whether Ms. Mason had any thoughts on the Inspector General's (IG's) Office, Ms. Mason noted she believed the IG's Office should be independent and included in the Charter.

Mr. Julien noted the Charter was silent on the procurement process and that Section 5.01 of the Charter states that the County should have a finance department. He asked whether the Finance Department's procedures manual included a procurement process and whether Ms. Mason was familiar with it.

Ms. Mason noted she knew the procurement process, but she was trying to convey how County staff drew up Requests for Proposals to exclude all but one or two companies. She added that when these problems were mentioned to staff members, they did not send new information to all potential bidders, but only to a select few.

Chairman Garcia asked that a presentation regarding the procurement process be made at the public hearing scheduled on May 9th, since he did not understand how it worked and how the County Commissioners were involved.

Mr. Ottinot acknowledged former City of Miami Gardens Councilman Melvin Bratton, whom he noted was in the audience.

In response to Mr. Slesnick's question regarding whether a location for the public hearing to be held on Monday, May 14th could be confirmed, Ms. Inson Kim, Director of Policy and Legislative Affairs in the Mayor's Office, said she was reaching out to the City of Hialeah to confirm that the Wilde Community Center was available, and staff would like the public hearing to be held at that facility since it was advertised, even though the meeting date in the original advertisement would change.

Mr. Slesnick asked Ms. Kim to follow up on that the next morning (5/9).

In response to Mr. Murphy's question concerning whether the Task Force meeting scheduled for May 17, 2012 would begin at 9:00 a.m., and whether the time the meeting would end was advertised, Ms. Kim noted the meeting was advertised to begin at 9:00 a.m.; however, the time the meeting would end was not advertised.

Chairman Garcia noted it was better not to advertise the time the public hearing would end.

Mr. Slesnick requested that a brief report regarding the County's procurement process be presented at the Task Force's May 17th meeting.

Mr. Ottinot asked that a report regarding the annexation and incorporation process at the May 17th meeting.

In response to Mr. Slesnick's inquiry concerning whether the Independent Review Panel (IRP) still existed, Mr. Murphy noted he believed the IRP's Executive Director position was eliminated from the budget two years ago.

Mr. Slesnick asked Ms. Kim to submit to him documentation regarding what the former IRP used to do. He noted that Assistant County Attorney Oren Rosenthal informed him prior to today's meeting that he was working on technical revisions to the Charter that could be discussed at the May 17th Task Force meeting.

Adjournment

Hearing no further business to come before the Task Force, Chairman Garcia adjourned the meeting at 6:17 PM.

Chairman Rene Garcia, Charter Review Task Force



Board of County Commissioners Charter Review Task Force – Public Hearing May 8, 2012

Prepared by: Jovel Shaw

EXHIBITS LIST

NO.	DATE	ITEM#	DESCRIPTION
1	5/8/2012		Meeting Agenda
2	5/8/2012		Meeting Media Advisory
3	5/8/2012		2012 Charter Review Task Force Public Hearings Sign-in Sheet
4	5/8/2012		List of Commissioners and their Contact Information
5	5/8/2012		The Home Rule Amendment and Charter (As Amended through January 31, 2012 – Unofficial)
6			
7			
8			
9			
10			
11			
12			
13			
14			
15			
16			
17			
18			
19			
20			

Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force
Public Hearing Meeting
Tuesday, May 8, 2012
North Dade Regional Library
2455 NW 183rd Street
5:30 p.m.

Agenda

- Welcome and Introduction
- Public Hearing
- Adjournment



For Immediate Release:

May 08, 2012

Media Contact: Suzy Trutie strutie@miamidade.gov 305-375-1545

Charter Review Task Force to conduct public hearing tonight at North Dade Regional Library

Friday, May 11 Public Hearing at Wilde Community Center in Hialeah has been cancelled; new meeting information will be announced

(Miami-Dade County, FL) -- The Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force is conducting a Public Hearing, which will allow for public input and focused study of possible amendments to the County Charter, on Tuesday, May 8, 2012, at 5:30 p.m., at North Dade Regional Library, 2455 NW 183rd Street, Miami, FL 33056. Residents are encouraged to provide their input at the Public Hearings or at www.miamidade.gov/charter. Members of the 2012 Charter Review Task Force will be in attendance at the Public Hearings.

On March 8, 2012, the Miami-Dade Board of County Commissioners approved Resolution R-253-12 creating a Charter Review Task Force. The Task Force is charged with reviewing the Home Rule Charter of Miami-Dade County; studying the final report of the 2008 Charter Review Task Force; reviewing amendments submitted to the voters since 2008; inviting knowledgeable members of the community to appear; conducting public hearings; hosting regional public meetings; and providing written recommendations to be presented to the Board of County Commissioners at their July 17, 2012 meeting.

The Task Force consists of 20 members, 13 of the members are appointed by each County Commissioner, one by the Mayor of Miami-Dade County, four by each of the four largest cities in the County, and two by the Miami-Dade League of Cities.

For more information about the Charter Review Task Force, visit <u>www.miamidade.gov/charter/task-force-2012.asp.</u>

Who:

2012 Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force

What:

Public Hearings

When:

May 08, 2012, 5:30 a.m.

Where:

Tuesday, May 8, 2012, 5:30 p.m. North Dade Regional Library 2455 NW 183rd Street Miami, FL 33056

Wednesday, May 9, 2012, 5:30 p.m. West Kendall Regional Library 10201 Hammocks Boulevard Miami, FL 33196

Thursday, May 10, 2012, 5:30 p.m. South Dade Regional Library 10750 SW 211th Street Miami, FL 33189

Cancelled: New meeting information will be announced. Friday, May 11, 2012, 5:30 p.m. Wilde Community CenterW. 53rd Terrace Hialeah, FL 33012

###

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

Stephen P. Clark Center 111 NW 1st Street, 29th Floor Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 375-5071

2012 Charter Reform Task Force Public Hearing Sign-In Sheet

North Dade Regional Library

May 8, 2012 at 5:30 pm

Address	305 5370 8405/Mexteith 10AR Minui lake	EXDIR 135 MPHES @ MO 305-620-7090 3650 NWISI ST MM. CAMES ENS 33056	16207090 3650NW181 ST MIN. GKDNS 33056	9048 COILIND ALL #102 SUTSILL X		00) 15 5 17 5 20 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	444 NE 3/51 #6 Mim, F1 33/37	19468 NW 28 PLACE		
Telephone	305 558-5370	305-620-7090	305/207090	305375 1000 0457	M. Sa. St.		1580-326-386	303.620 0820		
Enail	hoparky nolles 3	EXDIR BRACHES QADL	Richard Mora	Beilds, Asima-	Route		105musegapoorco	A construction of the cons		
Name	TENEDANZA "HOP" Lamadis		WASSIN	HILL ANDABEL BEIKS, ASIM- 305315	Circo William	Mary De Call	Doen Hudo	BRATION METUR		

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

111 N.W. First Street, Suites 220 & 320

Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 375-5124

(305) 375-5569 (2nd Floor Fax - Districts 1-8) (305) 375-4838 (3rd Floor Fax - Districts 9-13)

District One - Barbara J. Jordan

(305) 375-5694 Downtown Office (305) 372-6028 Downtown Fax

Email: District1@miamidade.gov District Office: 2780 N.W. 167th Street

Miami Gardens, Florida 33054 (305) 474-3011 Phone

(305) 474-3066 Fax

District Two - Jean Monestime

(305) 375-4833 Downtown Office (305) 375-4843 Downtown Fax Email: District2@miamidade.gov

District Office: City of North Miami
900 N.E. 125th Street, Suite 200

Miami, Florida 33161 (305) 694-2779 Phone (305) 694-2781 Fax

<u> District Three – Audrey M. Edmonson – Vice Chairwoman</u>

(305) 375-5393 Downtown Office (305) 372-6104 Downtown Fax Email: District3@miamidade.gov District Office: Caleb Center
5400 N.W. 22nd Avenue, Suite 701

Miami, Florida 33142 (305) 636-2331 Phone (305) 638-6906 Fax

<u> District Four – Sally A. Heyman</u>

(305) 375-5128 Downtown Office (305) 372-6179 Downtown Fax

Email: District4@miamidade.gov District Office: 1100 N.E. 163rd Street, #303 North Miami, Florida 33162 (305) 787-5999 Phone (305) 787-5998 Fax

District Five - Bruno A. Barreiro

(305) 375-5924 Downtown Office (305) 375-5904 Downtown Fax

Email: District5@miamidade.gov

Main Office 1454 S.W. 1st Street, Ste 130 Miami, Florida 33135

(305) 643-8525 Phone (305) 643-8528 Fax

Miami Beach Office

1700 Convention Center Drive, 1st Flr Miami Beach, Florida 33139 (305) 673-7743 Phone

(305) 673-7747 Fax

<u>District Six - Rebeca Sosa</u>

(305) 375-5696 Downtown Office (305) 372-6090 Downtown Fax Email: District@miamidade.gov

District Office: 1000 S.W. 57th Avenue, Suite 201

Miami, Florida 33144 (305) 267-6377 Phone (305) 267-6366 Fax

<u> District Seven – Xavier L. Suarez</u>

(305) 375-5680 Downtown Office (305) 372-6103 Downtown Fax

Email: District7@miamidade.gov South Miami Office

6130 Sunset Drive Miami, Florida 33143 (305) 669-4003 Phone (305) 669-4044 Fax

Frankie Rolle Center

3750 S. Dixie Highway Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 694-3550 Phone (305) 694-3581 Fax

District Eight - Lynda Bell

(305) 375-5218 Downtown Office (305) 372-6073 Downtown Fax

Email: District@miamidade.gov

District Office: South Dade Government Center

14707 S. Dixie Highway, Suite 101 Palmetto Bay, Florida 33176

(305) 378-6677 Phone (305) 253-7495 Fax

District Nine - Dennis C. Moss

(305) 375-4832 Downtown Office (305) 372-6011 Downtown Fax

Email: District9@miamidade.gov

South Dade Government Center 10710 S.W. 211th Street, Suite 206

Miami, Florida 33189 (305) 234-4938 Phone

(305) 232-2892 Fax

Florida City Office

1634 NW 6th Avenue Florida City, Florida 33034 (305) 245-4420 Phone (305) 245-5008 Fax

District Ten - Javier D. Souto

(305) 375-4835 Downtown Office (305) 375-4838 Downtown Fax Email: District10@miamidade.gov

District Office: 9766 Coral Way, Suite One Miami, Florida 33165

(305) 222-2116 Phone (305) 222-2120 Fax

District Eleven – Joe A. Martinez - Chairman

(305) 375-5511 Downtown Office (305) 375-5883 Downtown Fax

Email: Officeofthechair@miamidade.gov

District Office: 1401 S.W. 107th Avenue, Suite 301M

Miami, Florida 33174

(305) 552-1155 Phone (305) 552-0577 Fax

District Twelve - Jose "Pepe" Diaz

(305) 375-4343 Downtown Office (305) 372-6109 Downtown Fax

Email: District12@miamidade.gov District Office: 8345 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33126

(305) 599-1200 Phone (305) 470-1791 Fax

<u>District Thirteen - Esteban Bovo, Jr.</u>

(305) 375-4831 Downtown Office (305) 375-4838 Downtown Fax

Email: District13@miamidade.gov

Hialeah District Office Palm Springs North Office 17687 N.W. 78th Avenue 3794 West 12th Avenue Miami, Florida 33015 Hialeah, Florida 33012

(305) 820-8424 Phone (305) 820-8430 Fax

(305) 820-8444 Phone (305) 820-8463 Fax

Office of Agenda Coordination - SPCC 27th Floor (305) 375-2033 Phone (305) 372-6091 Fax Office of Commission Auditor – SPCC 10th Floor (305) 375-4354 Phone (305) 679-7990 Fax

Office of Community Advocacy - SPCC 10th Floor (305) 375-5730 Phone (305) 375-5715 Fax

Office of Intergovernmental Affairs - SPCC 10th Floor (305) 375-5600 Phone (305) 375-5639 Fax

Protocol & Employee Recognition - Suite 220 (305) 375-3611 Phone (305) 372-6029 Fax

Office of the Mayor - Carlos A. Gimenez - SPCC 29th Floor

(305) 375-1545 Phone (305) 375-3304 Fax

Deputy Mayor/County Manager — Alina T. Hudak — SPCC 29th Floor (305) 375-5311 Phone (305) 375-1262 Fax



THE

HOME RULE AMENDMENT

AND

CHARTER

(AS AMENDED THROUGH JANUARY 31, 2012 – UNOFFICIAL)

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

The Miami-Dade County Home Rule Amendment to the Florida State Constitution was adopted November 6, 1956. The Miami-Dade County Home Rule Charter was adopted May 21, 1957.

INDEX

	Page
HOME RULE AMENDMENT.	1-4
CHARTER .	5
PREAMBLE	5
CITIZENS' BILL OF RIGHTS .	6-9
ARTICLE 1 -BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS	10
1.01 – Powers	10-14
1.02 - Resolutions and Ordinances	14-15
1.03 – Districts	15
1.04 - Composition of the Commission	15
1.05 - Forfeiture of Office	15
1.06 – Salary	15
1.07 – Vacancies	16
1.08 - Organization of the Commission and Commission Committees	16
ARTICLE 2 – MAYOR	17
2.01 - Election of Mayor	17-18
2.02 - Responsibilities of the Mayor	20-21
ARTICLE 3 – ELECTIONS	18
3.01 - Election and Commencement of Terms of County Commissioners	18
3.02 – Reserved	19
3.03 - Nonpartisan Elections	19
3.04 - Qualifications and Filing Fee	19
3.05 – Reserved	19
3.06 - Additional Regulations and State Laws	19-20
3.07 - Canvassing Elections	20
ARTICLE 4 - THE COUNTY MANAGER	20
4.01 – Functions	20
4.02 – Qualifications	20
4.03 - Absence of Manager	20
4.04 Pactriction on the Commission Members	20-21

Index (Cont'd)

	Page
ARTICLE 5 – ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND PROCE	DURE 21
5.01 – Departments	21
5.02 - Administrative Procedure	21
5.03 - Financial Administration	21-22
5.04 - Assessment and Collection of Taxes	22-23
5.05 - Department of Personnel	23-24
5.06 - Department of Law	24
5.07 - Department of Planning	24-25
5.08 – Boards	25
ARTICLE 6 – MUNICIPALITIES	25
6.01 - Continuance of Municipalities	25-26
6.02 - Municipal Powers	26
6.03 - Municipal Charters	26
6.04 - Changes in Municipal Boundaries	26
6.05 - Creation of New Municipalities	27
6.06 - Contracts with Other Units of Government	27
6.07 - Franchise and Utility Taxes	27
ARTICLE 7 - PARKS, AQUATIC PRESERVES, AND	25
PRESERVATION LANDS	<i>21</i>
7.01 – Policy	27-28
7.02 - Restrictions and Exceptions.	28-29
7.03 - Enforcement and Construction	29-30
7.04 – Jurisdiction	30
ARTICLE 8 - INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM, AND RECALL	30
8.01 - Initiative and Referendum	30-31
8.02 – Recall	32
ARTICLE 9 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	32
9.01 - Abolition of Certain Offices and Transfer of Functions	32-33
9.02 – Reserved	33
9.03 - Tort Liability	33
9.04 - Supremacy Clause	33
0.05 Existing Franchises Contracts and Licenses	33

Index (Cont'd)

	Page
9.06 - Effect of the Charter	34
9.07 – Amendments	34
9.08 – Revisions	34
9.09 - Effective Date	35
9.10 – Commission Auditor	35
ARTICLE 10 - NAME OF COUNTY	35
10.01 - Name of County	35
ENDNOTE	ENDNOTE 1
2.02 - Responsibilities of the Mayor	ENDNOTE 2-3
4.01 – Functions	ENDNOTE 3
4.01 – Functions	ENDNOTE 3
4.01 – Functions	ENDNOTE 3
4.01 – Functions	ENDNOTE 3 ENDNOTE 3 ENDNOTE 3
4.01 – Functions	ENDNOTE 3 ENDNOTE 3 ENDNOTE 3-4

e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e				
			-	
			÷	

HOME RULE AMENDMENT

ARTICLE VIII, SECTION 11 FLORIDA CONSTITUTION 1885

Dade County, home rule charter. - (1) The electors of Dade County, Florida, are granted power to adopt, revise, and amend from time to time a home rule charter of government for Dade County, Florida, under which the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County shall be the governing body. This charter:

- (a) Shall fix the boundaries of each county commission district, provide a method for changing them from time to time, and fix the number, terms and compensation of the commissioners, and their method of election.
- (b) May grant full power and authority to the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County to pass ordinances relating to the affairs, property and government of Dade County and provide suitable penalties for the violation thereof; to levy and collect such taxes as may be authorized by general law and no other taxes, and do everything necessary to carry on a central metropolitan government in Dade County.
- (c) May change the boundaries of, merge, consolidate, and abolish and may provide a method for changing the boundaries of, merging, consolidating and abolishing from time to time all municipal corporations, county or district governments, special taxing districts, authorities, boards, or other governmental units whose jurisdiction lies wholly within Dade County, whether such governmental units are created by the Constitution or the Legislature or otherwise, except the Dade County Board of County Commissioners as it may be provided for from time to time by this home rule charter and the Board of Public Instruction of Dade County.
- (d) May provide a method by which any and all of the functions or powers of any municipal corporation or other governmental unit in Dade County may be transferred to the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County.
- (e) May provide a method for establishing new municipal corporations, special taxing districts, and other governmental units in Dade County from time to time and provide for their government and prescribe their jurisdiction and powers.
- (f) May abolish and may provide a method for abolishing from time to time all offices provided for by Article VIII, Section 6, of the Constitution or by the Legislature, except the Superintendent of Public Instruction and

may provide for the consolidation and transfer of the functions of such offices, provided, however, that there shall be no power to abolish or impair the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court or to abolish any other court provided for by this Constitution or by general law, or the judges or clerks thereof although such charter may create new courts and judges and clerks thereof with jurisdiction to try all offenses against ordinances passed by the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County and none of the other courts provided for by this Constitution or by general law shall have original jurisdiction to try such offenses, although the charter may confer appellate jurisdiction on such courts, and provided further that if said home rule charter shall abolish any county office or offices as authorized herein, that said charter shall contain adequate provision for the carrying on of all functions of said office or offices as are now or may hereafter be prescribed by general law.

- (g) Shall provide a method by which each municipal corporation in Dade County shall have the power to make, amend or repeal its own charter. Upon adoption of this home rule charter by the electors this method shall be exclusive and the Legislature shall have no power to amend or repeal the charter of any municipal corporation in Dade County.
- (h) May change the name of Dade County.
- (i) Shall provide a method for the recall of any commissioner and a method for initiative and referendum, including the initiation of and referendum on ordinances and the amendment or revision of the home rule charter, provided, however, that the power of the Governor and Senate relating to the suspension and removal of officers provided for in this Constitution shall not be impaired, but shall extend to all officers provided for in said home rule charter.
- (2) Provision shall be made for the protection of the creditors of any governmental unit which is merged, consolidated, or abolished or whose boundaries are changed or functions or powers transferred.
- (3) This home rule charter shall be prepared by a Metropolitan Charter Board created by the Legislature and shall be presented to the electors of Dade County for ratification or rejection in the manner provided by the Legislature. Until a home rule charter is adopted the Legislature may from time to time create additional Charter Boards to prepare charters to be presented to the electors of Dade County for ratification or rejection in the manner provided by the Legislature. Such charter, once adopted by the electors, may be amended only by the electors of Dade County and this charter shall provide a method for submitting future charter revisions and amendments to the electors of Dade County.
- (4) The County Commission shall continue to receive its pro rata share of all revenues payable by the state from whatever source to the several counties and the State of

Florida shall pay to the Commission all revenues which would have been paid to any municipality in Dade County which may be abolished by or in the method provided by this home rule charter; provided, however, the Commission shall reimburse the comptroller of Florida for the expense incurred, if any, in the keeping of separate records to determine the amounts of money which would have been payable to any such municipality.

- (5) Nothing in this section shall limit or restrict the power of the Legislature to enact general laws which shall relate to Dade County and any other one or more counties in the State of Florida or to any municipality in Dade County and any other one or more municipalities of the State of Florida, and the home rule charter provided for herein shall not conflict with any provision of this Constitution nor of any applicable general laws now applying to Dade County and any other one or more counties of the State of Florida except as expressly authorized in this section nor shall any ordinance enacted in pursuance to said home rule charter conflict with this Constitution or any such applicable general law except as expressly authorized herein, nor shall the charter of any municipality in Dade County conflict with this Constitution or any such applicable general law except as expressly authorized herein, provided however that said charter and said ordinances enacted in pursuance thereof may conflict with, modify or nullify any existing local, special or general law applicable only to Dade County.
- (6) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit or restrict the power of the Legislature to enact general laws which shall relate to Dade County and any other one or more counties of the State of Florida or to any municipality in Dade County and any other one or more municipalities of the State of Florida relating to county or municipal affairs and all such general laws shall apply to Dade County and to all municipalities therein to the same extent as if this section had not been adopted and such general laws shall supersede any part or portion of the home rule charter provided for herein in conflict therewith and shall supersede any provision of any ordinance enacted pursuant to said charter and in conflict therewith, and shall supersede any provision of any charter of any municipality in Dade County in conflict therewith.
- (7) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit or restrict the power and jurisdiction of the Railroad and Public Utilities Commission or of any other state agency, bureau or commission now or hereafter provided for in this Constitution or by general law and said state agencies, bureaus and commissions shall have the same powers in Dade County as shall be conferred upon them in regard to other counties.
- (8) If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or provision of this section is held invalid as violative of the provisions of Section 1, Article XVII of this Constitution the remainder of this section shall not be affected by such invalidity.
- (9) It is declared to be the intent of the Legislature and of the electors of the State of Florida to provide by this section home rule for the people of Dade County in local affairs and this section shall be liberally construed to carry out such purpose, and it is further declared to be the intent of the Legislature and of the electors of the State of Florida that the provisions of this Constitution and general laws which shall relate to Dade County and any other one or more counties of the State of Florida or to any municipality in Dade County and any other one or more municipalities of the State of Florida enacted pursuant thereto by the Legislature shall be the

supreme law in Dade County, Florida, except as expressly provided herein and this section shall be strictly construed to maintain such supremacy of this Constitution and of the Legislature in the enactment of general laws pursuant to this Constitution.

Note: The Florida Constitution of 1968 contains the following language providing that the Home Rule Amendment to the Florida Constitution of 1885 remains in full force and effect:

ARTICLE VIII, SECTION 6 FLORIDA CONSTITUTION 1968

Section 6. Schedule to Article VIII.-

- (a) This article shall replace all of Article VIII of the Constitution of 1885, as amended, except those sections expressly retained and made a part of this article by reference.
- (e) CONSOLIDATION AND HOME RULE. Article VIII, Sections 9, 10, 11 and 24, of the Constitution of 1885, as amended, shall remain in full force and effect as to each county affected, as if this article had not been adopted, until that county shall expressly adopt a charter or home rule plan pursuant to this article. All provisions of the Metropolitan Dade County Home Rule Charter, heretofore or hereafter adopted by the electors of Dade County pursuant to Article VIII, Section 11, of the Constitution of 1885, as amended, shall be valid, and any amendments to such charter shall be valid; provided that the said provisions of such charter and the said amendments thereto are authorized under said Article VIII, Section 11, of the Constitution of 1885, as amended.
- (f) DADE COUNTY; POWERS CONFERRED UPON MUNICIPALITIES. To the extent not inconsistent with the powers of existing municipalities or general law, the Metropolitan Government of Dade County may exercise all the powers conferred now or hereafter by general law upon municipalities.

Miami-Dade County Home Rule Charter

Preamble

We, the people of this County, in order to secure for ourselves the benefits and responsibilities of home rule, to create a metropolitan government to serve our present and future needs, and to endow our municipalities with the rights of self determination in their local affairs, do under God adopt this home rule Charter.

CITIZENS' BILL OF RIGHTS

- (A). This government has been created to protect the governed, not the governing. In order to provide the public with full and accurate information, to promote efficient administrative management, to make government more accountable, and to insure to all persons fair and equitable treatment, the following rights are guaranteed:
 - 1. Convenient Access. Every person has the right to transact business with the County and the municipalities with a minimum of personal inconvenience. It shall be the duty of the Mayor and the Commission to provide, within the County's budget limitations, reasonably convenient times and places for registration and voting, for required inspections, and for transacting business with the County.
 - 2. Truth in Government. No County or municipal official or employee shall knowingly furnish false information on any public matter, nor knowingly omit significant facts when giving requested information to members of the public.
 - 3. **Public Records.** All audits, reports, minutes, documents and other public records of the County and the municipalities and their boards, agencies, departments and authorities shall be open for inspection at reasonable times and places convenient to the public.
 - 4. Minutes and Ordinance Register. The Clerk of the Commission and of each municipal council shall maintain and make available for public inspection an ordinance register separate from the minutes showing the votes of each member on all ordinances and resolutions listed by descriptive title. Written minutes of all meetings and the ordinance register shall be available for public inspection not later than 30 days after the conclusion of the meeting.
 - 5. Right to be Heard. So far as the orderly conduct of public business permits, any interested person has the right to appear before the Commission or any municipal council or any County or municipal agency, board or department for the presentation, adjustment or determination of an issue, request or controversy within the jurisdiction of the governmental entity involved; provided, nothing herein shall prohibit the Commission or any municipal council from referring a matter to a committee of each of their respective bodies to conduct a public hearing, unless prohibited by law. Matters shall be scheduled for the convenience of the public, and the agenda shall be divided into approximate time periods so that the public may know approximately when a matter will be heard. Nothing herein shall prohibit any governmental entity or agency from imposing reasonable time limits for the presentation of a matter.
 - 6. Right to Notice. Persons entitled to notice of a County or municipal hearing shall be timely informed as to the time, place and nature of the hearing and the legal authority pursuant to which the hearing is to be held. Failure by an individual to receive such

notice shall not constitute mandatory grounds for cancelling the hearing or rendering invalid any determination made at such hearing. Copies of proposed ordinances or resolutions shall be made available at a reasonable time prior to the hearing, unless the matter involves an emergency ordinance or resolution.

- 7. No Unreasonable Postponements. No matter once having been placed on a formal agenda by the County or any municipality shall be postponed to another day except for good cause shown in the opinion of the County Commission, the municipal council or other governmental entity or agency conducting such meeting, and then only on condition that any person so requesting is mailed adequate notice of the new date of any postponed meeting. Failure by an individual to receive such notice shall not constitute mandatory grounds for cancelling the hearing or rendering invalid any determination made at such hearing.
- 8. Right to Public Hearing. Upon a timely request of any interested party a public hearing shall be held by any County or municipal agency, board, department or authority upon any significant policy decision to be issued by it which is not subject to subsequent administrative or legislative review and hearing. This provision shall not apply to the Law Department of the County or of any municipality, nor to any body whose duties and responsibilities are solely advisory. At any zoning or other hearing in which review is exclusively by certiorari, a party or his counsel shall be entitled to present his case or defense by oral or documentary evidence, to submit rebuttal evidence, and to conduct such cross-examination as may be required for a full and true disclosure of the facts. The decision of any such agency, board, department or authority must be based upon the facts in the record. Procedural rules establishing reasonable time and other limitations may be promulgated and amended from time to time.
- 9. Notice of Actions and Reasons. Prompt notice shall be given of the denial in whole or in part of a request of an interested person made in connection with any County or municipal administrative decision or proceeding when the decision is reserved at the conclusion of the hearing. The notice shall be accompanied by a statement of the grounds for denial.
- 10. Mayor's, City Managers' and Attorneys' Reports. The County Mayor and County Attorney and each City Manager and City Attorney shall periodically make a public status report on all major matters pending or concluded within their respective jurisdictions.
- 11. **Budgeting.** In addition to any budget required by state statute, the County Mayor shall prepare a budget showing the cost of each program for each budget year. Prior to the County Commission's first public hearing on the proposed budget required by state law, the County Mayor shall make public a budget summary setting forth the proposed cost of each individual program and reflecting all major proposed increases and decreases in funds and personnel for each program, the purposes therefore, the estimated millage cost of each program and the amount of any contingency and carryover funds for each program.

- 12. Quarterly Budget Comparisons. The County Mayor shall make public a quarterly report showing the actual expenditures during the quarter just ended against one quarter of the proposed annual expenditures set forth in the budget. Such report shall also reflect the same cumulative information for whatever portion of the fiscal year that has elapsed.
- 13. Adequate Audits. An annual audit of the County and each municipality shall be made by an independent certified public accounting firm in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. A summary of the results, including any deficiencies found, shall be made public. In making such audit, proprietary functions shall be audited separately and adequate depreciation on proprietary facilities shall be accrued so the public may determine the amount of any direct or indirect subsidy.
- 14. Regional Offices. Regional offices of the County's administrative services shall be maintained at locations in the County for the convenience of the residents.
- 15. Financial Disclosure. The Commission shall by ordinance make provision for the filing under oath or affirmation by all County and municipal elective officials, candidates for County and municipal elective offices, such employees as may be designated by ordinance, and such other public officials, and outside consultants who receive funds from the County or municipalities, within the County and who may legally be included, of personal financial statements, copies of personal Federal income tax returns, or itemized source of income statements. Provision shall be made for preparing and keeping such reports current from time to time, and for public disclosure. The Commission shall also make provision for the filing annually under oath of a report by fulltime County and municipal employees of all outside employment and amounts received therefrom. The Mayor and any City Manager may require monthly reports from individual employees or groups of employees for good cause.
- 16. **Representation of Public.** The Commission shall endeavor to provide representation at all proceedings significantly affecting the County and its residents before State and Federal regulatory bodies.
- 17. Commission on Ethics and Public Trust. The County shall, by ordinance, establish an independent Commission on Ethics and Public Trust comprised of five members, not appointed by the County Commission, with the authority to review, interpret, render advisory opinions and enforce the county and municipal code of ethics ordinances, conflict of interest ordinances, lobbyist registration and reporting ordinances, ethical campaign practices ordinances, when enacted, and citizens' bill of rights.
- (B). The foregoing enumeration of citizens' rights vests large and pervasive powers in the citizenry of Dade County. Such power necessarily carries with it responsibility of equal magnitude for the successful operation of government in the County. The orderly, efficient and fair operation of government requires the intelligent participation of individual citizens exercising their rights with dignity and restraint so as to avoid any

- sweeping acceleration in the cost of government because of the exercise of individual prerogatives, and for individual citizens to grant respect for the dignity of public office.
- (C). Remedies for Violations. In any suit by a citizen alleging a violation of this Article filed in the Dade County Circuit Court pursuant to its general equity jurisdiction, the plaintiff, if successful, shall be entitled to recover costs as fixed by the Court. Any public official or employee who is found by the Court to have willfully violated this Article shall forthwith forfeit his office or employment.
- (D). **Construction.** All provisions of this Article shall be construed to be supplementary to and not in conflict with the general laws of Florida. If any part of this Article shall be declared invalid, it shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions.

ARTICLE - 1 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

SECTION 1.01. POWERS.

- A. The Board of County Commissioners shall be the legislative and the governing body of the county. The County shall have the power to carry on a central metropolitan government. The Board's powers shall include but shall not be restricted to the powers to:
 - 1. Provide and regulate arterial, toll, and other roads, bridges, tunnels, and related facilities; eliminate grade crossings; provide and regulate parking facilities; and develop and enforce master plans for the control of traffic and parking.
 - 2. Provide and operate air, water, rail, and bus terminals, port facilities, and public transportation systems.
 - 3. License and regulate taxis, jitneys, limousines for hire, rental cars, and other passenger vehicles for hire operating in the county.
 - 4. Provide central records, training, and communications for fire and police protection; provide traffic control and central crime investigation; provide fire stations, jails, and related facilities; and subject to Section 1.01A(18) provide a uniform system for fire and police protection.
 - 5. Prepare and enforce comprehensive plans for the development of the county.
 - 6. Provide hospitals and uniform health and welfare programs.
 - 7. Provide parks, preserves, playgrounds, recreation areas, libraries, museums, and other recreational and cultural facilities and programs.
 - 8. Establish housing, slum clearance, urban renewal, conservation, flood and beach erosion control, air pollution control, and drainage programs and cooperate with governmental agencies and private enterprises in the development and operation of these programs.
 - 9. Provide and regulate or permit municipalities to provide and regulate waste and sewage collection and disposal and water supply and conservation programs.

- 10. Levy and collect taxes and special assessments, borrow and expend money and issue bonds, revenue certificates, and other obligations of indebtedness in such manner, and subject to such limitations, as may be provided by law.
- By ordinance, establish, merge, and abolish special purpose districts 11. within which may be provided police and fire protection, beach erosion control, recreation facilities, water, streets, sidewalks, street lighting, waste and sewage collection and disposal, drainage, and other essential facilities and services. All county funds for such districts shall be provided by service charges, special assessments, or general tax levies within such districts only. The Board of County Commissioners shall be the governing body of all such districts and when acting as such governing body shall have the same jurisdiction and powers as when acting as the Board; provided, however, that the governing board of the Children's Trust shall not be the Board of County Commissioners, but shall have membership as provided in state law for children's service councils serving home rule charter counties. The Children's Trust shall have the authority to fund improvements to children's health, development and safety; promote parental and community responsibility for children; levy an annual ad valorem tax not to exceed one-half (1/2) mill to supplement current county expenditures for children services and require voter renewal in 2008.

Note: By special election called pursuant to Resolution No. R-534-08, and held on August 26, 2008, the voters renewed the Children's Trust's ability to continue to levy an annual ad valorem tax.

- 12. Establish, coordinate, and enforce zoning and such business regulations as are necessary for the protection of the public.
- 13. Adopt and enforce uniform building and related technical codes and regulations for both the incorporated and unincorporated areas of the county; provide for examinations for contractors and all parties engaged in the building trades and for the issuance of certificates of competency and their revocation after hearing. Such certificates shall be recognized and required for the issuance of a license in all municipalities in the county. No municipality shall be entitled to require examinations or any additional certificate of competency or impose any other conditions for the issuance of a municipal license except the payment of the customary fee. The municipality may issue building permits and conduct the necessary inspections in accordance with the uniform codes and charge fees therefor.
- 14. Regulate, control, take over, and grant franchises to, or itself operate gas, light, power, telephone, and other utilities, sanitary and sewage collection

and disposal systems, water supply, treatment, and service systems, and public transportation systems, provided, however, that:

- (a) Franchises under this subsection may only be granted by a twothirds vote of the members of the Board present and approved by a majority vote of those qualified electors voting at either a special or general election.
- (b) The county shall not operate a light, power, or telephone utility to serve any territory in the county which is being supplied with similar service except by a majority vote of those qualified electors voting in an election held not less than six months after the Board has passed an ordinance to that effect by a two-thirds vote of the members of the Board present. Such ordinance shall contain information on cost, method of financing, agency to regulate rates, agency to operate, location, and other information necessary to inform the general public of the feasibility and practicability of the proposed operation.
- 15. Use public funds for the purposes of promoting the development of the county, including advertising of the area's advantages.
- 16. Establish and enforce regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages in the unincorporated areas and approve municipal regulations on hours of sale of alcoholic beverages.
- 17. Enter into contracts with other governmental units within or outside the boundaries of the county for joint performance or performance by one unit in behalf of the other of any authorized function.
- 18. Set reasonable minimum standards for all governmental units in the county for the performance of any service or function. The standards shall not be discriminatory as between similar areas. If a governmental unit fails to comply with such standards, and does not correct such failure after reasonable notice by the Board, then the Board may take over and perform, regulate, or grant franchises to operate any such service. The Board may also take over and operate, or grant franchises to operate any municipal service if:
 - (a) In an election called by the Board of County Commissioners within the municipality a majority of those voting vote in favor of turning the service over to the county; or
 - (b) The governing body of the municipality requests the county to take over the service by a two-thirds vote of its members, or by referendum.

- 19. By ordinance, abolish or consolidate the office of constables, or any county office created by the Legislature, or provide for the consolidation and transfer of any of the functions of such officers, provided, however, that there shall be no power to abolish the Superintendent of Public Instruction, or to abolish or impair the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court or to abolish any other Court, provided by the Constitution or by general law, or the judges or clerks thereof.
- 20. Make investigations of county affairs, inquire into the conduct, accounts, records, and transactions of any department or office of the county, and for these purposes require reports from all county officers and employees, subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, and require the production of records.
- 21. Exercise all powers and privileges granted to municipalities, counties, and county officers by the Constitution and laws of the state, and all powers not prohibited by the Constitution or by this Charter.
- 22. Adopt such ordinances and resolutions as may be required in the exercise of its powers, and prescribe fines and penalties for the violation of ordinances.
- 23. Perform any other acts consistent with law which are required by this Charter or which are in the common interest of the people of the county.
- 24. Supersede, nullify, or amend any special law applying to this county, or any general law applying only to this county, or any general law where specifically authorized by the Constitution.
- B. No enumeration of powers in this Charter shall be deemed exclusive or restrictive and the foregoing powers shall be deemed to include all implied powers necessary and proper to carrying out such powers. All of these powers may be exercised in the incorporated and unincorporated areas, subject to the procedures herein provided in certain cases relating to municipalities.
- C. The Board shall have the power of eminent domain and the right to condemn property for public purposes. The Board shall make fair and just compensation for any properties acquired in the exercise of its powers, duties, or functions. The Board shall also provide for the acquisition or transfer of property, the payment, assumption, or other satisfaction of the debts, and the protection of pension rights of affected employees of any governmental unit which is merged, consolidated, or abolished or whose boundaries are changed or functions or powers transferred.
- D. The Board shall be entitled to levy in the unincorporated areas all taxes authorized to be levied by

municipalities and to receive from the state any revenues collected in the unincorporated areas on the same basis as municipalities.

SECTION 1.02. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES.

- A. The Board shall adopt its own rules of procedure and shall decide which actions of the Board shall be by ordinance or resolution, except as otherwise provided in this Charter and except that any action of the Board which provides for raising revenue, appropriating funds, or incurring indebtedness (other than refunding indebtedness), or which provides a penalty or establishes a rule or regulation for the violation of which a penalty is imposed shall be by ordinance.
- B. Every ordinance shall be introduced in writing and shall contain a brief title. The enacting clause shall be "Be it Ordained by the Board." After passage on first reading, a short summary of the ordinance shall be published in a daily newspaper of general circulation at least once together with a notice of the time when and place where it will be given a public hearing and be considered for final passage. The first such publication shall be at least one week prior to the time advertised for hearing. No ordinance shall be declared invalid by reason of any defect in publication or title if the published summary gives reasonable notice of its intent.
- C. At the time and place so advertised, or at any time and place to which such public hearing may from time to time be adjourned, the ordinance shall be read by title and a public hearing shall be held. After the hearing, the Board may pass the ordinance with or without amendment. No provision herein shall prohibit a committee of the commission from conducting such public hearing, as provided by Section 1.08.
- D. The Board may adopt in whole or in part any published code by reference as an ordinance in the manner provided by law.
- E. The effective date of any ordinance shall be prescribed therein, but the effective date shall not be earlier than ten days after its enactment.
- F. To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property, or public safety the Board by two-thirds vote of the members of the Board may adopt an emergency ordinance at the meeting at which it is introduced, and may make it effective immediately, except that no such ordinance may be used to levy taxes, grant or extend a franchise, or authorize the borrowing of money. After the adoption of an emergency ordinance, the Board shall have it published in full within ten days in a daily newspaper of general circulation.
- G. Each ordinance and resolution after adoption shall be given a serial number and shall be entered by the clerk in a properly indexed record kept for that purpose.
- H. Within two years after adoption of this Charter the Board shall have prepared a general codification of all county ordinances and resolutions having the effect of law. The general codification thus prepared shall be adopted by the Board in a single ordinance. After adoption the Board shall have the codification printed immediately in an appropriate manner

together with the Charter and such rules and regulations as the Board may direct. Additions or amendments to the code shall be prepared, adopted, and printed at least every two years.

SECTION 1.03. DISTRICTS.

- A. There shall be thirteen County Commission districts. The current boundaries of these districts shall be as shown on the map attached as Exhibit A and made a part hereof.
- B. The Board may by ordinance adopted by two-thirds vote of the members of the Board change the boundaries of the districts from time to time. The boundaries shall be fixed on the basis of the character, population, and geography of the districts.

SECTION 1.04. COMPOSITION OF THE COMMISSION.

The Commission shall consist of thirteen members, each of whom shall be a qualified elector residing within his or her district for at least six months and within the County for at least three years before qualifying and who shall be elected by the qualified electors of his or her district.

SECTION 1.05. FORFEITURE OF OFFICE.

- A. Any member of the Board of County Commissioners who ceases to be a qualified voter of the county or removes himself from the county or the district from which he was elected, or who fails to attend meetings without good cause for a period of six months, shall immediately forfeit his office. Any Commissioner who ceases to reside in the district which he represents shall also immediately forfeit his office.
- B. Any elected or appointed county official who holds any other elective office, whether federal, state or municipal, shall forfeit his county position, provided that the provisions of this subsection shall not apply to any officials presently holding such other office during the remainder of the present terms.
- C. Any appointed official or employee of Dade County who qualifies as a candidate for election to any federal, state or municipal office shall immediately take a leave of absence from his or her county position until the date of the election and shall, if elected, immediately forfeit his or her county position. If the candidate is not elected, he or she shall immediately be reinstated to his or her former position.

SECTION 1.06. SALARY.

Each County Commissioner shall receive a salary of \$6,000 per year payable monthly and shall be entitled to be reimbursed for such reasonable and necessary expenses as may be approved by the Board.

SECTION 1.07. VACANCIES.

Any vacancy in the office of Mayor or the members of the Board shall be filled by majority vote of the remaining members of the Board within 30 days, or the Board shall call an election to be held not more than 45 days thereafter to fill the vacancy. The person chosen to fill the office vacated must at the time of appointment meet the residence requirements for the office to which such person is appointed. A person appointed shall serve only until the next countywide election. A person elected shall serve for the remainder of the unexpired term of office. If a majority of the members of the Board should become appointed rather than elected to office, then the Board shall call an election to be held not more than 45 days thereafter to permit the registered electors to elect commissioners to succeed the appointed commissioners; appointed commissioners may succeed themselves unless otherwise prohibited by the Charter. If a countywide election is scheduled to be held within 180 days from the date on which the majority of the members of the Board become appointive, the Board may elect to defer the required election until the scheduled county-wide election.

SECTION 1.08. ORGANIZATION OF THE COMMISSION AND COMMISSION COMMITTEES.

The Mayor shall not be a member of the Commission. The Commission shall select the chairperson and vice-chairperson of the Commission. The Chairperson shall preside over commission meetings and perform such other duties set forth in the charter and ordinances of Miami-Dade County. The Vice-Chairperson shall perform the duties of the chairperson in the absence or incapacity of the Chairperson. Any member may be selected by the Commission to preside over commission meetings in the event of the absence of the Chairperson and the Vice-Chairperson.

The Commission may organize itself into standing committees, special committees, and ad hoc committees. Upon formation of any such committees, the Commission may appoint its members or authorize the Chairperson to appoint committee members. Commission committees may conduct public hearings, as authorized by ordinance of the Commission. The Clerk of the Circuit Court or a deputy shall serve as clerk of the Commission. No action of the Commission shall be taken except by a majority vote of those present at a meeting at which a majority of the Commissioners then in office is present. All meetings shall be public.

ARTICLE - 2 Mayor

Note: By special election called pursuant to Resolution No. R-573-10, and held on August 24, 2010, the voters amended Section 2.02 effective the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of the general election held November 2012 as indicated in the endnote. See ENDNOTE, pp. 2 & 3.

SECTION 2.01. ELECTION OF MAYOR.

There shall be elected by the qualified electors of the county at large a Mayor who shall be a qualified elector residing within the county at least three years before qualifying. The Mayor shall not serve as a member of the Commission.

SECTION 2.02. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MAYOR.

The Mayor shall serve as head of the county government with the following specific powers and responsibilities:

- A. The Mayor shall be responsible for the management of all administrative departments of the County government and for carrying out policies adopted by the Commission. The Mayor, or such other persons who may be designated by the Mayor, shall execute contracts and other instruments, and sign bonds and other evidences of indebtedness. The Mayor shall serve as the head of the County for emergency management purposes.
- B. The Mayor shall have the right to attend and be heard at any regular or special open session meeting of the Commission, but not the right to vote at such meetings.
- C. The Mayor shall appoint the County Manager unless such appointment is disapproved by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office at the Commission's next regularly scheduled meeting. The Mayor shall have the authority to dismiss the County Manager.
- D. Unless otherwise provided by this Charter, the Mayor shall have the power to appoint all department directors of the administrative departments of the County. Appointment of these department directors shall become effective unless disapproved by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office at the Commission's next regularly scheduled meeting. The Mayor shall also have the right to suspend, reprimand, remove, or discharge any administrative department director, with or without cause.

- E. The Mayor shall within ten days of final adoption by the Commission, have veto authority over any legislative, quasi-judicial, zoning, master plan or land use decision of the Commission, including the budget or any particular component contained therein which was approved by the Commission; provided, however, that (1) if any revenue item is vetoed, an expenditure item in the same or greater dollar amount must also be vetoed and (2) the Mayor may not veto the selection of the chairperson or vice-chairperson of the commission, the enactment of commission committee rules, the formation of commission committees, or the appointment of members to commission committees. The Commission may at its next regularly scheduled meeting after the veto occurs, override that veto by a two-thirds vote of the Commissioners present.
- F. The Mayor shall prepare and deliver a report on the state of the county to the people of the county between November 1 and January 31 annually. Such report shall be prepared after consultation with the Commissioners.
- G. The Mayor shall prepare and deliver a budgetary address annually to the people of the county in March. Such address shall set forth the Mayor's funding priorities for the County.

ARTICLE - 3 ELECTIONS

SECTION 3.01. ELECTION AND COMMENCEMENT OF TERMS OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

- A. The election of the Commissioners from even-numbered districts shall be held in 1994 and every four years thereafter and the election of Commissioners from odd-numbered districts shall be held in 1996 and every four years thereafter at the time of the state primary elections.
- B. A candidate must receive a majority of the votes cast to be elected. Effective with the election for County Commission in 2004, if no candidate receives a majority of the votes cast there will be a runoff election at the time of the general election following the state primary election between the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes. Should a tie result, the outcome shall be determined by lot.
- C. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, beginning with the elections in 2004, the terms of office of the Mayor and County Commissioners shall commence on the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of the general election in November.
- D. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, effective with the term of Mayor scheduled to commence in October, 1996, no person shall be elected as Mayor for more than two consecutive four-year terms. Neither service as Mayor or County Commissioner prior to the terms scheduled to commence in October, 1996, nor service of a partial term subsequent to October, 1996, shall be considered in applying the term limitation provisions of this section.

SECTION 3.02. RESERVED.

SECTION 3.03. NONPARTISAN ELECTIONS.

All elections for Mayor and the other members of the Board shall be nonpartisan and no ballot shall show the party designation of any candidate. No candidate shall be required to pay any party assessment or state the party of which he is a member or the manner in which he voted or will vote in any election.

SECTION 3.04. QUALIFICATIONS AND FILING FEE.

- A. All candidates for the office of Mayor or County Commissioner shall qualify with the Clerk of the Circuit Court no earlier than the 84th day and no later than noon on the 70th day prior to the date of the election at which he is a candidate in the method provided by law or ordinance, and shall pay a filing fee of \$300. All filing fees shall be paid into the general funds of the county.
- В. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person who seeks to qualify as a candidate for the office of Mayor or County Commissioner and who meets the petition requirements of this section is not required to pay the filing fee required by this section or any other qualifying fee required by the state (collectively the "Qualifying Fee"). A candidate who seeks to qualify without paying the Qualifying Fee must obtain the number of signatures of voters in the geographical area represented by the office sought equal to at least 1 percent of the total number of registered voters of that geographical area, as shown by the compilation by the Supervisor of Elections for the immediately preceding general election. Signatures may not be obtained until the candidate has filed the appointment of campaign treasurer and designation of campaign depository pursuant to state law. The format of the petition shall be prescribed by the Supervisor of Elections and shall be used by candidates to reproduce petitions for circulation. Each petition must be submitted before noon of the 28th day preceding the first day of the qualifying period for the office sought to the Supervisor of Elections. The Supervisor shall check the signatures on the petitions to verify their status as voters in the geographical area represented by the office sought. No later than the 7th day before the first day of the qualifying period, the Supervisor of Elections shall certify the number of valid signatures. The Supervisor of Elections shall determine whether the required number of signatures has been obtained and shall notify the candidate. If the required number of signatures has been obtained, the candidate shall be eligible to qualify pursuant to this section without paying the Qualifying Fee.

SECTION 3.05. RESERVED.

SECTION 3.06, ADDITIONAL REGULATIONS AND STATE LAWS.

A. The Board may adopt by ordinance any additional regulations governing elections not inconsistent with this Charter.

B. Except as otherwise provided by this Charter or by ordinance adopted hereunder the provisions of the election laws of this state shall apply to elections held under this Charter.

SECTION 3.07. CANVASSING ELECTIONS.

All elections under this Charter shall be canvassed by the County Canvassing Board as provided under the election laws of this state.

ARTICLE - 4 COUNTY MANAGER

Note: By special election called pursuant to Resolution No. R-573-10, and held on August 24, 2010, the voters deleted Article 4 of the Home Rule Charter effective the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of the general election held November 2012 as indicated in the endnote. See ENDNOTE, pp. 3 & 4.

SECTION 4.01. FUNCTIONS.

The Manager shall serve under the direction of the Mayor and, as directed by the Mayor, shall assist the Mayor in the administration of County government. The Manager's compensation shall be set by the Mayor.

SECTION 4.02. QUALIFICATIONS.

The Manager shall be chosen on the basis of the Manager's executive and administrative qualifications. At the time of the Manager's appointment the Manager need not be a resident of the state. Neither the Mayor nor any Commissioner shall be eligible for the position of Manager during or within two years after the expiration of their respective terms.

SECTION 4.03. ABSENCE OF MANAGER.

The Mayor shall designate a qualified administrative officer of the County to assume the duties and authority of the Manager during periods of temporary absence or disability of the Manager unless disapproved by a two-thirds majority of the Commission at its next regularly scheduled meeting.

SECTION 4.04. RESTRICTION ON THE COMMISSION MEMBERS.

A. No Commissioner shall direct or request the appointment of any person to, or his or her removal from, office by any subordinate of the Mayor, or take part in the appointment or removal of officers and employees in the administrative services of the County, nor shall any subordinate of the Mayor accede to such direction or request.

B. Except where otherwise prohibited by Ordinance, Commissioners shall be permitted to communicate and make inquiries of the administrative services for the purpose of transmitting constituent inquiries or assisting Commissioners in the exercise of their powers as set forth in Section 1.01A. Except as provided elsewhere in this Charter, Commissioners shall not be permitted to give orders, either publicly or privately, to any subordinate of the Mayor.

No County employee or official, other than the County Mayor or his or her designee, shall respond to or undertake any action to comply with any request by any Commissioner which violates the provisions of the preceding paragraph. The County Mayor shall not knowingly allow any Commissioner to deal with the administrative services in violation of the provisions of this section.

ARTICLE - 5 ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND PROCEDURE

Note: By special election called pursuant to Resolution No. R-573-10, and held on August 24, 2010, the voters amended Section 5.06 and added a new Section 5.09 effective the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of the general election held November 2012 as indicated in the endnote. See ENDNOTE, pp. 4 & 5.

SECTION 5.01. DEPARTMENTS.

There shall be departments of finance, personnel, planning, law, and such other departments as may be established by administrative order of the Mayor. All administrative functions not otherwise specifically assigned to others by this Charter shall be performed under the supervision of the Mayor.

SECTION 5.02. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE.

The Mayor shall have the power to issue and place into effect administrative orders, rules, and regulations. The organization and operating procedure of administrative departments shall be set forth in regulations, which the Mayor shall develop, place into effect by administrative orders, and submit to the Board.

SECTION 5.03. FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION.

A. The department of finance shall be headed by a finance director appointed by the Mayor and the Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts. The finance director shall have charge of the financial affairs of the county.

- B. Between June 1 and July 15, the County Mayor should prepare a proposed budget containing a complete financial plan, including capital and operating budgets, for the ensuing fiscal year. The budget prepared and recommended by the Mayor, shall be presented by the Mayor or his or her designee to the Commission on or before the Board adopts tentative millage rates for the ensuing fiscal year. A summary of the budget shall be published and the Board shall hold hearings on and adopt a budget on or before the dates required by law.
- C. No money shall be drawn from the county treasury nor shall any obligation for the expenditure of money be incurred except pursuant to appropriation and except that the Board may establish working capital, revolving, pension, or trust funds and may provide that expenditures from such funds can be made without specific appropriation. The Board, by ordinance, may transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance, or any portion thereof, from one department, fund, or agency to another, subject to the provisions of ordinance. Any portion of the earnings or balance of the several funds, other than sinking funds for obligations not yet retired, may be transferred to the general funds of the county by the Board.
- D. Contracts for public improvements and purchases of supplies, materials, and services other than professional shall be made whenever practicable on the basis of specifications and competitive bids. Formal sealed bids shall be secured for all such contracts and purchases when the transaction involves more than the minimum amount established by the Board of County Commissioners by ordinance. The transaction shall be evidenced by written contract submitted and approved by the Board. The Board, upon written recommendation of the Mayor, may by resolution adopted by two-thirds vote of the members present waive competitive bidding when it finds this to be in the best interest of the county.
- E. Any county official or employee of the county who has a special financial interest, direct or indirect, in any action by the Board shall make known that interest and shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating in such transaction. Willful violation of this Section shall constitute malfeasance in office, shall effect forfeiture of office or position, and render the transaction voidable by the Board.
- F. Such officers and employees of the county as the Board may designate shall give bond in the amount and with the surety prescribed by the Board. The bond premiums shall be paid by the county.
- G. At the end of each fiscal year the Board shall provide for an audit by an independent certified public accountant designated by the Board of the accounts and finances of the county for the fiscal year just completed.
- H. The Budget Commission created by Chapter 21874, Laws of Florida, 1943, is hereby abolished, and Chapter 21874 shall no longer be of any effect.

SECTION 5.04. ASSESSMENT AND COLLECTION OF TAXES.

A. Commencing with the general election to be held in November 2008 and every four years thereafter, the Miami-Dade County Property Appraiser shall be elected on a

nonpartisan basis, by a majority of the qualified electors voting at a county-wide election held within Miami-Dade County, Florida.

- B. Beginning with the tax year 1961, the county tax rolls prepared by the county shall be the only legal tax rolls in this county for the assessment and collection of county and municipal taxes. Thereafter no municipality shall have an assessor or prepare an ad valorem tax roll. Each municipality shall continue to have the right to adopt its own budget, fix its own millage, and levy its own taxes. Each municipality shall certify its levies to the County not later than 30 days after the county tax rolls have been finally approved by the Board. Any municipality may obtain a copy of this tax roll upon payment of the cost of preparing such a copy, and copies of the tax rolls shall be available for public inspection at reasonable times. Maps showing the assessed valuation of each parcel of property may be prepared and made available for sale to the public at a reasonable price.
- C. All county and municipal taxes for the tax year beginning January 1, 1961, and all subsequent tax years, shall be collected by the county on one bill prepared and sent out by the county. The amounts of county and municipal taxes shall be shown as separate items, and maybe paid separately.
- D. Delinquent municipal taxes shall be collected in the same manner as delinquent county taxes.
- E. All the tax revenues collected for any municipality shall be returned monthly by the county to the municipality.

SECTION 5.05. DEPARTMENT OF PERSONNEL.

- A. The Board of County Commissioners shall establish and maintain personnel and civil service, retirement, and group insurance programs. The personnel system of the county shall be based on merit principles in order to foster effective career service in county employment and to employ those persons best qualified for county services which they are to perform.
- B. The Mayor shall appoint a personnel director who shall head the department of personnel and whose duty it shall be to administer the personnel and civil service programs and the rules governing them. The standards of such programs shall not be less than those prevailing at the time of the effective date of this Charter.
- C. Except as provided herein, Chapter 30255, General Laws, 1955, as it exists on the effective date of this Charter, shall remain in effect until amended or changed by ordinance of the Board of County Commissioners adopted by two-thirds vote of the members present after recommendation from either the Personnel Advisory Board or the County Mayor.
- D. Employees of municipalities who, by merger, transfer, or assignment of governmental units or functions become county employees, shall not lose the civil service rights or privileges which have accrued to them during their period of employment with such municipality, and the county shall use its best efforts to employ these employees within the limits

of their capabilities. However, if because of the merger of a department or division of a municipality with the county, all of the employees of such department or division are unable to be employed by the county either because of lack of funds or lack of work, the employee possessing the greater amount of service shall be retained in accordance with civil service rules and regulations. Those employees who are not retained shall be placed on a priority list for employment by the county subject to seniority. Any non-retained employee shall have the option, if a vacancy occurs or exists in another department, and if he is qualified to render the service required, to either accept such employment or remain on the priority list until such time as employment shall be available for

him in his own or similar classification.

- E. The pension plan presently provided by the state for county employees shall not be impaired by the Board. Employees of municipalities, who by merger, transfer, or assignment of governmental units or functions become county employees shall not lose their pension rights, or any reserves accrued to their benefit during their period of employment with such municipality. The Board of County Commissioners shall provide a method by which these employees' rights and reserves shall be protected, and these employees shall continue until retirement, dismissal, or death in a pension status no less beneficial than the status held by them at the time of merger or assignment.
- F. The Board of County Commissioners shall provide and place into effect a practical group insurance plan for all county employees.

SECTION 5.06. DEPARTMENT OF LAW.

There shall be a County Attorney appointed by the Board of County Commissioners, subject to veto by the Mayor unless overridden by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office who shall serve at the will of the Board and who shall head the department of law. He shall devote his full time to the service of the county and shall serve as legal counsel to the Board, Mayor, Manager, and all county departments, offices, and agencies, and perform such other legal duties as may be assigned to him. He may appoint such assistants as may be necessary in order that his duties may be performed properly. The Board may employ special counsel for specific needs.

SECTION 5.07. DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING.

The department of planning shall be headed by a planning director appointed by the Mayor. The planning director shall be qualified in the field of planning by special training and experience. Under the supervision of the Mayor and with the advice of the Planning Advisory Board elsewhere provided for in this Charter, the planning director shall among other things:

1. Conduct studies of county population, land use, facilities, resources, and needs and other factors which influence the county's development, and on the basis of such studies prepare such official and other maps and reports as, taken together, constitute a master plan for the welfare, recreational, economic, and physical development of the county.

- 2. Prepare for review by the Planning Advisory Board, and for adoption by the Board of County Commissioners, zoning, subdivision and related regulations for the unincorporated areas of the county and minimum standards governing zoning, subdivision, and related regulations for the municipalities; and prepare recommendations to effectuate the master plan and to coordinate the county's proposed capital improvements with the master plan.
- 3. Review the municipal systems of planning, zoning, subdivision, and related regulations and make recommendations thereon with a view of coordinating such municipal systems with one another and with those of the county.

SECTION 5.08. BOARDS.

- A. The Board of County Commissioners shall by ordinance create a Planning Advisory Board, a Zoning Appeals Board, and such other boards as it may deem necessary, prescribing in each case the number, manner of appointment, length of term, and advisory or quasi-judicial duties of members of such boards, who shall serve without compensation but who may be reimbursed for necessary expenses incurred in official duties, as may be determined and approved by the Board of County Commissioners.
- B. The Board of County Commissioners may by ordinance provide for the expansion of the City of Miami Water and Sewer Board to an agency county-wide in scope and authority, with the power to acquire, construct and operate water and sewer systems within the incorporated and the unincorporated areas of Dade County, which agency shall be known as the Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Authority. The Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Authority shall have the responsibility to develop and operate a countywide water and sewer system for the purpose of providing potable water, sewage collection and disposal and water pollution abatement to the citizens of Dade County.
- C. Dade County shall retain all its powers, including but not limited to that of eminent domain, in relation to the creation of a county-wide water and sewer system, for the purpose of cooperating with the Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Authority.

ARTICLE - 6 MUNICIPALITIES

SECTION 6.01. CONTINUANCE OF MUNICIPALITIES.

The municipalities in the county shall remain in existence so long as their electors desire. No municipality in the county shall be abolished without approval of a majority of its electors voting in an election called for that purpose. Notwithstanding any provision of the Charter, the Board of County Commissioners shall have the authority to abolish a municipality by ordinance where such municipality has twenty or fewer electors at the time of adoption of the ordinance

abolishing the municipality. The right of self determination in local affairs is reserved and reserved to the municipalities except as otherwise provided in this Charter.

SECTION 6.02. MUNICIPAL POWERS.

Each municipality shall have the authority to exercise all powers relating to its local affairs not inconsistent with this Charter. Each municipality may provide for higher standards of zoning, service, and regulation than those provided by the Board of County Commissioners in order that its individual character and standards may be preserved for its citizens.

SECTION 6.03. MUNICIPAL CHARTERS.

- A. Except as provided in Section 5.04, any municipality in the county may adopt, amend, or revoke a charter for its own government or abolish its existence in the following manner. Its governing body shall, within 120 days after adopting a resolution or after the certification of a petition of ten percent of the qualified electors of the municipality, draft or have drafted by a method determined by municipal ordinance a proposed charter amendment, revocation, or abolition which shall be submitted to the electors of the municipalities. Unless an election occurs not less than 60 nor more than 120 days after the draft is submitted, the proposal shall be submitted at a special election within that time. The governing body shall make copies of the proposal available to the electors not less than 30 days before the election. Alternative proposals may be submitted. Each proposal approved by a majority of the electors voting on such proposal shall become effective at the time fixed in the proposal.
- B. All municipal charters, amendments thereto, and repeals thereof shall be filed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.

SECTION 6.04. CHANGES IN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.

- A. The planning director shall study municipal boundaries with a view to recommending their orderly adjustment, improvement, and establishment. Proposed boundary changes may be initiated by the Planning Advisory Board, the Board of County Commissioners, the governing body of a municipality, or by a petition of any person or group concerned.
- B. The Board of County Commissioners, after obtaining the approval of the municipal governing bodies concerned, after hearing the recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, and after a public hearing, may by ordinance effect boundary changes, unless the change involves the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents are electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors voting shall also be required. Upon any such boundary change any conflicting boundaries set forth in the charter of such municipality shall be considered amended.
 - C. No municipal boundary shall be altered except as provided by this Section.

SECTION 6.05, CREATION OF NEW MUNICIPALITIES.

The Board of County Commissioners and only the Board may authorize the creation of new municipalities in the unincorporated areas of the county after hearing the recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, after a public hearing, and after an affirmative vote of a majority of the electors voting and residing within the proposed boundaries. The Board of County Commissioners shall appoint a charter commission, consisting of five electors residing within the proposed boundaries, who shall propose a charter to be submitted to the electors in the manner provided in Section 5.03. The new municipality shall have all the powers and rights granted to or not withheld from municipalities by this Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of Florida. Notwithstanding any provision of this Charter to the contrary, with regard to any municipality created after September 1, 2000, the pre-agreed conditions between the County and the prospective municipality which are included in the municipal charter can only be changed if approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Board of County Commissioners then in office, prior to a vote of qualified municipal electors.

SECTION 6.06. CONTRACTS WITH OTHER UNITS OF GOVERNMENT.

Every municipality in this county shall have the power to enter into contracts with other governmental units within or outside the boundaries of the municipality or the county for the joint performance or performance by one unit in behalf of the other of any municipal function.

SECTION 6.07. FRANCHISE AND UTILITY TAXES.

Revenues realized from franchise and utility taxes imposed by municipalities shall belong to municipalities.

ARTICLE - 7 PARKS, AQUATIC PRESERVES, AND PRESERVATION LANDS

Note: This Article does not apply to municipal property in Coral Gables, Hialeah, Hialeah Gardens, Miami, Sweetwater and West Miami. See Section 7.04.

SECTION 7.01. POLICY.

Parks, aquatic preserves, and lands acquired by the County for preservation shall be held in trust for the education, pleasure, and recreation of the public and they shall be used and maintained in a manner which will leave them unimpaired for the enjoyment of future generations as a part of the public's irreplaceable heritage. They shall be protected from commercial development and exploitation and their natural landscape, flora and fauna, and scenic beauties shall be preserved. In lands acquired by the County for preservation and in parks along the Ocean or the Bay the public's access to and view of the water shall not be obstructed or

impaired by buildings or other structures or concessions which are in excess of 1500 square feet each. Adequate maintenance shall be provided.

SECTION 7.02. RESTRICTIONS AND EXCEPTIONS.

In furtherance of this policy parks shall be used for public park purposes only, and subject to the limited exceptions set forth in this Article, there shall be no permanent structures or private commercial advertising erected in a public park or private commercial use of a public park or renewals, expansions, or extensions of existing leases, licenses, or concessions to private parties of public park property, unless each such structure, lease, license, renewal, expansion, extension, concession or use shall be approved by a majority vote of the voters in a County-wide referendum. Nothing in this Article shall prevent any contract with federally tax-exempt not-forprofit youth, adult, and senior cultural, conservation and parks and recreation program providers. To ensure aquatic preserves, lands acquired by the County for preservation, and public parks or parts thereof which are nature preserves, beaches, natural forest areas, historic or archeological areas, or otherwise possess unique natural values in their present state, such as Matheson Hammock, Greynolds Park, Redlands Fruit and Spice Park, Castellow Hammock, Crandon Park, Trail Glades Park, Deering Estate Park, Pine Shore Park, Old Cutler Hammock, Chapman Field, Tamiami Pinelands, Wainright Park, Larry and Penny Thompson Park, Whispering Pines Hammock, Mangrove Preserve, Owaissa Bauer Park, Fuchs Hammock, Black Point Marina, Simpson Park, Sewell Park, Barnes Park, Virginia Key, mangrove preserves, and all other natural or historical resource based parks do not lose their natural or historical values, any structure, lease, license, renewal, extension, concession or use in any of this class of public parks or in aquatic preserves and preservation lands must be approved by an affirmative vote of twothirds of the voters in a County-wide referendum. No park shall be designed to be used beyond its appropriate carrying capacity and to the extent required by law all parks and facilities and permitted special events and concessions operating in the parks shall be fully accessible to persons with disabilities. Nothing in this Article shall prevent the maintenance of existing facilities, the maintenance, operation, and renovation of existing golf course and marina restaurants at their existing square footage by government agencies or private operators, provided such private operators are chosen as a result of competitive selection and their initial contract terms are limited to no more than ten years, or the construction, operation, maintenance, and repair by government agencies or private operators of or issuance of temporary permits for:

- A. Appropriate access roads, bridges, fences, lighting, flag poles, entrance features, picnic shelters, tables, grills, benches, irrigation systems, walls, erosion control devices, utilities, trash removal, parking and security and fire facilities for the primary use of the park system;
- B. Food and concession facilities each not in excess of 1500 square feet of enclosed space, with any complementary outdoor or covered areas needed to service park patrons;
- C. User-participation non-spectator recreation and, playground facilities, golf courses and golf-course related facilities, and bandstands and band shells containing less than 1,000 spectator seats and athletic facilities, sports fields and arenas containing less than 3,000 spectator seats;

- D. Facilities for marinas, sightseeing and fishing boats, visiting military vessels, and fishing;
 - E. Park signage and appropriate plaques and monuments;
 - F. Rest rooms;
 - G. Fountains, gardens, and works of art;
- H. Park service facilities, senior, day care and preschool facilities, small nature centers with not more than one classroom;
- I. Film permits, temporary fairs, art exhibits, performing arts, concerts, cultural and historic exhibitions, regattas, athletic contests and tournaments, none of which require the erection of permanent structures;
- J. Advertising in connection with sponsorship of events or facilities in the park, provided however all such facilities and uses are compatible with the particular park and are scheduled so that such events do not unreasonably impair the public use of the park or damage the park;
- K. Programming partnerships with qualified federally tax exempt not-for-profit youth, adult, and senior cultural, conservation, and parks and recreation program providers;
- L. Agreements with cable, internet, telephone, electric or similar service providers or utilities, so long as any installations are underground or do not adversely impact natural resources, or parks facilities and uses.

No park facilities, golf courses, or County lands acquired for preservation shall be converted to or used for non-park offices, purposes, or uses. The County, the municipalities, and agencies or groups receiving any public funding shall not expend any public money or provide any publicly funded services in kind to any project which does not comply with this Article. No building permit or certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any structure in violation of this Article. The restrictions applying to parks in this Article shall not apply to the Dade County Youth Fair site, Metro Zoo, Tamiami Stadium, Haulover Fishing Pier, the Dade County Auditorium, the Museum of Science, the Gold Coast Railroad Museum, Vizcaya Museum and Gardens, Trail Glade Range, the Orange Bowl, the Commodore Ralph Munroe Marine Stadium, the Seaquarium, Curtis Park track and stadium, Fairchild Tropical Gardens, and mini and neighborhood parks except that no mini or neighborhood park may be leased or disposed of unless a majority of the residents residing in voting precincts any part of which is within 1 mile of the park authorize such sale or lease by majority vote in an election.

SECTION 7.03. ENFORCEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION.

All elections required by this Article shall be held either in conjunction with state primary or general elections or as part of bond issue elections. The provisions of this Article may be

enforced in the same manner as provided in Section (C) of the Citizens' Bill of Rights of this Charter. The provisions of this Article shall be liberally construed in favor of the preservation of all park lands, aquatic preserves, and preservation lands. If any provision of this Article shall be declared invalid it shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Article. This Article shall not be construed to illegally impair any previously existing valid written contractual commitments or bids or bonded indebtedness.

SECTION 7.04. JURISDICTION.

Except as otherwise provided herein the provisions of this Article shall apply to all County and municipal parks, aquatic preserves, and lands acquired by the County for preservation now in existence or hereafter acquired, provided that if this Article was not favorably voted upon by a majority of the voters voting in any municipality at the time of the adoption of this Article the municipal parks of such municipality shall be excluded from the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE - 8 INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM, AND RECALL

SECTION 8.01. INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM.

The electors of the county shall have the power to propose to the Board of County Commissioners passage or repeal of ordinances and to vote on the question if the Board refuses action, according to the following procedure:

- 1. The person proposing the exercise of this power shall submit the proposal, including proposed ballot language to the Clerk of the Circuit Court who shall without delay approve as to form a petition for circulation in one or several copies as the proposer may desire. A public hearing shall be held on the proposal at the next Board of County Commissioner meeting subsequent to the date the Clerk approves the petition as to form.
- 2. The person or persons circulating the petition shall, within 120 days of the approval of the form of the petition, obtain the valid signatures of voters in the county in numbers at least equal to four percent of the registered voters in the county on the day on which the petition is approved, according to the official records of the County Supervisor of Elections. In determining the sufficiency of the petition, no more than 25 percent of the valid signatures required shall come from voters registered in any single county commission district. Each signer of a petition shall place thereon, after his name, the date, and his place of residence or precinct number. Each person circulating a copy of the petition shall attach to it a

sworn affidavit stating the number of signers and the fact that each signature was made in the presence of the circulator of the petition.

- 3. The signed petition shall be filed with the Board which shall within 30 days order a canvass of the signatures thereon to determine the sufficiency of the signatures. If the number of signatures is insufficient or the petition is deficient as to form or compliance with this Section, the Board shall notify the person filing the petition that the petition is insufficient and has failed.
- 4. The Board may within 30 days after the date a sufficient petition is presented adopt the ordinance as submitted in an initiatory petition or repeal the ordinance referred to by a referendary petition. If the Board does not adopt or repeal the ordinance as provided above, then the proposal shall be placed on the ballot without further action of the Board.
- 5. If the proposal is submitted to the electors, the election shall be held either:
 - (a) In the next scheduled county-wide election, or
 - (b) If the petition contains the valid signatures in the county in numbers at least equal to eight percent of the registered voters in the county, the election shall take place on the first Tuesday after 120 days from certification of the petition. The result shall be determined by a majority vote of the electors voting on the proposal.
- 6. An ordinance proposed by initiatory petition or the repeal of an ordinance by referendary petition shall be effective on the day after the election, except that:
 - (a) Any reduction or elimination of existing revenue or any increase in expenditures not provided for by the current budget or by existing bond issues shall not take effect until the beginning of the next succeeding fiscal year; and
 - (b) Rights accumulated under an ordinance between the time a certified referendary petition against the ordinance is presented to the Board and the repeal of the ordinance by the voters, shall not be enforced against the county; and
 - (c) Should two or more ordinances adopted at the same election have conflicting provisions, the one receiving the highest number of votes shall prevail as to those provisions.
- 7. An ordinance adopted by the electorate through initiatory proceedings shall not be amended or repealed by the Board for a period of one year after the election at which it was adopted, but thereafter it may be amended or repealed like any other ordinance.

SECTION 8.02. RECALL.

Any member of the Board of County Commissioners, the Mayor, the Property Appraiser, the Sheriff or Constable maybe removed from office by the electors of the county, district, or municipality by which he was chosen. The procedure on a recall petition shall be identical with that for an initiatory or referendary petition, except that:

- 1. The Clerk of the Circuit Court shall approve the form of the petition.
- 2. The person or persons circulating the petition must obtain signatures of electors of the county, district, or municipality concerned in numbers at least equal to four percent of the registered voters in the county district or municipality on the day on which the petition is approved, according to the official records of the County Supervisor of Elections.
- 3. The signed petition shall be filed with and canvassed and certified by the Clerk of the Circuit Court.
- 4. The Board of County Commissioners must provide for a recall election not less than 45 nor more than 90 days after the certification of the petition.
- 5. The question of recall shall be placed on the ballot in a manner that will give the elector a clear choice for or against the recall. The result shall be determined by a majority vote of the electors voting on the question.
- 6. If the majority is against recall the officer shall continue in office under the terms of his previous election. If the majority is for recall he shall, regardless of any defect in the recall petition, be deemed removed from office immediately.
- 7. No recall petition against such an officer shall be certified within one year after he takes office nor within one year after a recall petition against him is defeated.

ARTICLE - 9 GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 9.01. ABOLITION OF CERTAIN OFFICES AND TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS.

A. On May 1, 1958, the following offices are hereby abolished and the powers and functions of such offices are hereby transferred to the Mayor, who shall assume all the duties and functions of these offices required under the Constitution and general laws of this state: County Tax Collector, County Surveyor, County Purchasing Agent, and County Supervisor of

Registration. The Mayor may delegate to a suitable person or persons the powers and functions of such offices.

- B. In the event that other elective officers are abolished by the Board, the Board shall provide that any person duly elected to such office shall if he so desires remain in the same or similar position and receive the same salary for the remainder of the term for which he was elected, and shall provide for the continuation of all duties and functions of these offices required under the Constitution and general laws.
- C. On November 9, 1966, the Office of Sheriff is hereby abolished and the powers and functions of such office are hereby transferred to the Mayor, who shall assume all the duties and functions of this office required under the Constitution and general laws of this state. The Mayor may delegate to a suitable person or persons the powers and functions of such office.

SECTION 9.02. RESERVED.

SECTION 9.03. TORT LIABILITY.

The county shall be liable in actions of tort to the same extent that municipalities in the State of Florida are liable in actions in tort. However, no suit shall be maintained against the county for damages to persons or property or for wrongful death arising out of any tort unless written notice of claim shall first have been given to the county in the manner and within the time provided by ordinance, except that the time fixed by ordinance for notice shall be not less than 30 days nor more than 120 days.

Note: Waiver of County's tort immunity held unconstitutional in Kaulakis v. Boyd, Fla. 1962, 138 So.2d 505.

SECTION 9.04. SUPREMACY CLAUSE.

- A. This Charter and the ordinances adopted hereunder shall in cases of conflict supersede all municipal charters and ordinances, except as herein provided, and where authorized by the Constitution, shall in cases of conflict supersede all special and general laws of the state.
- B. All other special and general laws and county ordinances and rules and regulations not inconsistent with this Charter shall continue in effect until they are superseded by ordinance adopted by the Board pursuant to this Charter and the Constitution.

SECTION 9.05. EXISTING FRANCHISES, CONTRACTS, AND LICENSES.

All lawful franchises, contracts, and licenses in force on the effective date of this Charter shall continue in effect until terminated or modified in accordance with their terms or in the manner provided by law or this Charter.

SECTION 9.06. EFFECT OF THE CHARTER.

- A. This Charter shall be liberally construed in aid of its declared purpose, which is to establish effective home rule government in this county responsive to the people. If any Article, Section, subsection, sentence, clause, or provision of this Charter or the application thereof shall be held invalid for any reason, the remainder of the Charter and of any ordinances or regulations made thereunder shall remain in full force and effect.
- B. Nothing in this Charter shall be construed to limit or restrict the power and jurisdiction of the Florida Railroad and Public Utilities Commission.

SECTION 9.07. AMENDMENTS.

- A. Amendments to this Charter may be proposed by a resolution adopted by the Board of County Commissioners or by petition of electors numbering not less than ten percent of the total number of electors registered in Dade County at the time the petition is submitted. An initiative petition to amend this Charter shall be submitted, together with proposed ballot language, to the Clerk of the Circuit Court, who shall without delay approve as to form a petition for circulation in one or several copies as the proposer may desire. Initiatory petitions shall be certified in the manner required for initiatory petitions for an ordinance.
- B. Amendments to this Charter may be proposed by initiatory petitions of electors. The Board of County Commissioners shall call a countywide election to be held in conjunction with the next scheduled general election after the date that a certified petition is presented to the County Commission.
- C. Amendments to this Charter may be proposed by the Board of County Commissioners at any time. Elections on charter amendments proposed by the Board shall be held in conjunction with the next scheduled general election after the Board adopts a resolution proposing any amendment.
- D. The result of all elections on charter amendments shall be determined by a majority of the electors voting on the proposed amendment.

SECTION 9.08, REVISIONS.

At least once in every 5 year period the Board shall review the Charter and determine whether or not there is a need for revision. If the Board determines that a revision is needed, it shall establish a procedure for the preparation of a proposed revision of the Charter. The proposed revision shall then be presented to the Board for review, modification and approval. If the Board approves such proposed revision, either with or without modification, it shall present such proposed revision to the electorate in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.07 (C) and (D). Simultaneous elections may be held on a proposed revision and on individual amendments that are proposed.

SECTION 9.09. EFFECTIVE DATE.

This Charter shall become effective 60 days after it is ratified by a majority of the qualified electors of the county voting on the Charter.

SECTION 9.10. COMMISSION AUDITOR.

There is hereby created and established the Office of the Commission Auditor. The Commission Auditor, who shall be a certified public accountant, will be selected by the County Commission and shall report directly to the County Commission. The County Commission shall provide by ordinance for the specific functions and responsibilities of the Commission Auditor, which shall include but not be limited to providing the Commission with independent budgetary, audit, management, revenue forecasting, and fiscal analyses of commission policies, and county services and contracts.

ARTICLE - 10 Name of County

SECTION 10.01. NAME OF COUNTY.

- A. The name of Dade County shall officially be changed to Miami-Dade County and all references to Dade County in the Florida Constitution, Florida Statutes, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, federal law, case law and other legal documents, shall be deemed to be references to Miami-Dade County.
- B. The Commission shall by ordinance provide a method to implement the official name change.

Note: Miami-Dade County Ordinance 97-212. This ordinance is codified in Section 1-4.2 in the Code of Ordinances and is recorded in the Official Records of Miami-Dade County, Florida at Book 17968, Page 0498.

ENDNOTE (AFFECTING SECTION 2.02, ARTICLE 4, AND SECTIONS 5.06 AND 5.09): EFFECTIVE THE SECOND TUESDAY NEXT SUCCEEDING THE DATE OF THE GENERAL ELECTION HELD NOVEMBER 2012 THE WORDS STRICKEN THROUGH SHALL BE DELETED FROM THE CHARTER AND THE WORDS UNDERSCORED SHALL BE ADDED WITH THE REMAINING PROVISIONS THAT ARE NOW IN EFFECT TO REMAIN UNCHANGED AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE - 2 Mayor

SECTION 2.02. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MAYOR.

The Mayor shall serve as head of the county government with the following specific powers and responsibilities:

- A. The Mayor shall be responsible for the management of all administrative departments of the County government and for carrying out policies adopted by the Commission. The Mayor, or such other persons who may be designated by the Mayor, shall execute contracts and other instruments, and sign bonds and other evidences of indebtedness. The Mayor shall serve as the head of the County for emergency management purposes.
- B. The Mayor shall have the right to attend and be heard at any regular or special open session meeting of the Commission, but not the right to vote at such meetings.
- C. The Mayor shall appoint the County Manager unless such appointment is disapproved by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office at the Commission's next regularly scheduled meeting. The Mayor shall have the authority to dismiss the County Manager.
- D. C. Unless otherwise provided by this Charter, the Mayor shall have the power to appoint all department directors of the administrative departments of the County. Appointment of these department directors shall become effective unless disapproved by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office at the Commission's next regularly scheduled meeting. The Mayor shall also have the right to suspend, reprimand, remove, or discharge any administrative department director, with or without cause.
- E. D. The Mayor shall within ten days of final adoption by the Commission, have veto authority over any legislative, quasi-judicial, zoning, master plan or land use decision of the Commission, including the budget or any particular component contained therein which was approved by the Commission; provided, however, that (1) if any revenue item is vetoed, an expenditure item in the same or greater dollar amount must also be vetoed and (2) the Mayor may not veto the selection of the chairperson or vice-chairperson of the commission, the enactment of commission committee rules, the formation of commission committees, or the appointment of members to commission committees.

The Commission may at its next regularly scheduled meeting after the veto occurs, override that veto by a two-thirds vote of the Commissioners present.

- F. E. The Mayor shall prepare and deliver a report on the state of the county to the people of the county between November 1 and January 31 annually. Such report shall be prepared after consultation with the Commissioners.
- G. F. The Mayor shall prepare and deliver a budgetary address annually to the people of the county in March. Such address shall set forth the Mayor's funding priorities for the County.

ARTICLE - 4 COUNTY MANAGER RESERVED

SECTION 4.01. FUNCTIONS. The Manager shall serve under the direction of the Mayor and, as directed by the Mayor, shall assist the Mayor in the administration of County government. The Manager's compensation shall be set by the Mayor. **SECTION 4.02. QUALIFICATIONS.** The Manager shall be chosen on the basis of the Manager's executive and administrative qualifications. At the time of the Manager's appointment the Manager need not be a resident of the state. Neither the Mayor nor any Commissioner shall be eligible for the position of Manager during or within two years after the expiration of their-respective-terms. SECTION 4.03. ABSENCE OF MANAGER. The Mayor-shall designate a qualified administrative officer of the County to assume the duties and authority of the Manager during periods of temporary absence or disability of the Manager unless disapproved by a two thirds majority of the Commission at its next regularly scheduled meeting. SECTION 4.04. RESTRICTION ON THE **COMMISSION MEMBERS.**

or her removal from, office by any subordinate of the Mayor, or take part in the appointment or

A. No Commissioner shall direct or request the appointment of any person to, or his

removal-of-officers and employees in the administrative services of the County, nor shall any subordinate of the Mayor accede to such direction or request.
B. Except where otherwise prohibited by Ordinance, Commissioners shall be permitted to communicate and make inquiries of the administrative services for the purpose of transmitting constituent inquiries or assisting Commissioners in the exercise of their powers as set forth in Section 1.01A. Except as provided elsewhere in this Charter, Commissioners shall not be permitted to give orders, either publicly or privately, to any subordinate of the Mayor.
No County employee or official, other than the County Mayor or his or her designee, shall respond to or undertake any action to comply with any request by any Commissioner which violates the provisions of the preceding paragraph. The County Mayor shall not knowingly allow any Commissioner to deal with the administrative services in violation of the provisions of this section.

ARTICLE - 5 ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND PROCEDURE

SECTION 5.06. DEPARTMENT OF LAW.

There shall be a County Attorney appointed by the Board of County Commissioners, subject to veto by the

Mayor unless overridden by a two-thirds majority of those Commissioners then in office who shall serve at the will of the Board and who shall head the department of law. He shall devote his full time to the service of the county and shall serve as legal counsel to the Board, Mayor, Manager, and all county departments, offices, and agencies, and perform such other legal duties as may be assigned to him. He may appoint such assistants as may be necessary in order that his duties may be performed properly. The Board may employ special counsel for specific needs.

SECTION 5.09. RESTRICTION ON THE COMMISSION MEMBERS.

A. No Commissioner shall direct or request the appointment of any person to, or his or her removal from, office by any subordinate of the Mayor, or take part in the appointment or removal of officers and employees in the administrative services of the County, nor shall any subordinate of the Mayor accede to such direction or request.

B. Except where otherwise prohibited by Ordinance, Commissioners shall be permitted to communicate and make inquiries of the administrative services for the purpose of transmitting constituent inquiries or assisting Commissioners in the exercise of their powers as set forth in Section 1.01A. Except as provided elsewhere in this Charter, Commissioners shall not be permitted to give orders, either publicly or privately, to any subordinate of the Mayor.

No County employee or official, other than the County Mayor or his or her designee, shall respond to or undertake any action to comply with any request by any Commissioner which violates the provisions of the preceding paragraph. The County Mayor shall not knowingly allow any Commissioner to deal with the administrative services in violation of the provisions of this section.

SIGNERS OF METROPOLITAN CHARTER BOOK 182 PAGE 691

The Metropolitan Charter Board of Dade County, Florida, hereby delivers to E.B. Leatherman as Clerk of the Circuit Court of Dade County, Florida, the foregoing proposed Charter for Dade County, and certifies that it has been prepared by the Metropolitan Charter Board pursuant to Chapter 31420, Laws of Florida, Acts of 1956 Extraordinary Session.

Charles H. Crandon	William L. Pallot
Maxine E. Baker	Franklin Parson
George H. Cooper	Kurt Peiser
William Grogan	W. Keith Phillips
Malvina W. Liebman	J. D. Ryan
George S. Okell, Sr.	Williams D. Singer
Max Orovitz	H. Franklin Williams
Joseph J. Orr	Mitchell Wolfson
Chair	rman
S. D. Phi	illips, Jr.

April 15, 1957

April 15, 1957

STATE OF FLORIDA)
) SS:
COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE)

I, HARVEY RUVIN, Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, and Ex-Officio Clerk of the Board of County Commissioners of said County, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the May 8, 2012, Board of County Commissioners' Charter Review Task Force (CRTF) meeting minutes, as appears of record.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and official seal on this 21ST day of May, A.D., 2012.



HARVEY RUVIN, Clerk Board of County Commissioners Miami-Dade County, Florida

Doputy Clo